
 
1 

 

Nelson County Planning Commission 
Meeting Minutes 

December 28, 2022 
 

Present:  Chair Mary Kathryn Allen and Commissioners Mike Harman, Phil Proulx, Jesse Rutherford 
and Robin Hauschner 

Staff Present: Dylan Bishop, Director and Emily Hjulstrom, Planner/Secretary 

Call to Order:  Chair Allen called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM in the General District Courtroom, 
County Courthouse, Lovingston.  

 

Public Hearings 

Special Use Permit #808 - Kennel 

Ms. Bishop presented the following information: 



 
2 

 



 
3 

 

 



 
4 

 

 

Ms. Proulx clarified that the owner of the property is legally Service Dogs of VA.  

 

Ms. Peggy Law is the applicant for the project, she lives at 4783 Turkey Side Rd in Keswick.  

Ms. Law presented the following narrative: 



 
5 

 



 
6 

 

 



 
7 

 

Mr. Harman asked Ms. Law if she was in agreement with the conditions presented by staff. She noted 
that she was. Mr. Rutherford asked if the 20 dog number included puppies. Ms. Law noted that it 
doesn’t and that the puppies are only there for a limited time.  

Chair Allen opened the public hearing at 7:23 PM.  

Mr. Maxwell Depiro of 145 Chapel Hollow Rd. He explained that it is he and his wife’s dream to have a 
home with horses and cows. He presented the following: 

I would like to address the commission hearing on Special Use Permit #808 - Kennel. I am a Nelson 
county resident with our primary residence being an adjoining property to the Service Dogs of Virginia 
proposed building lot.  
The packet outlines 4 criteria for a Special Use Permit to be acceptable. It is my intent to provide content 
that shows that Permit #808 does not meet 2 out of 4 of these criteria and it is therefore my request 
that the commission recommends to the County board to reject this application. 
On the criteria that the use shall not tend to change the character and established pattern of 
development of the area or community in which it proposes to locate. 
The proposed plan calls for 5 buildings comprising of 24,900 sqft of indoor space on just 9.5 acres. This 
level of development is egregiously outsized from any neighboring commercial or residential 
development, and will inherently change the character and established pattern of development of the 
area. The nearest development of that size is the Rockfish River Elementary School which sits on nearly 
47 acres. The lot size for the proposed development is simply too small for the planned activity. 
Additionally, to address concerns of noise, lighting, and the visual “character” of the proposed use, the 
proposers state they will go outside normal building practices to accomplish and meet the criteria. If a 



 
8 

 

proposed project must go outside normal accepted building practices and codes and ordinances to be 
acceptable under Special Use terms than by definition, it does not fit the character and established 
patterns of development. 
On the criteria that the use shall be in harmony with the uses permitted by right in the zoning district 
and shall not affect adversely the use of neighboring property. 
 
Ms. Carolyn Roberts lives at 215 Chapel Hollow Rd. She mentioned that she would also like to address 
Criteria A and B of the criteria when reviewing an SUP. She explained that Ms. Law’s outline and wording 
is indicitive of the concern of visual impact to the neighboring lots. She explained that the word 
‘campus’ outlines her concern. She added that the amount of space for the building allotment and the 
visual impact is very concerning. She explained that Spirit Trail is a special piece of property and that the 
lots there are mainly residential. She added that she appreciates the owner’s mission but that she 
doesn’t think this property is appropriate for the use.  

Mr. Ron Hendrickson lives at 148 Blundell Hollow Rd. He requested that the PC reject the proposal 
based on failing to meet Criteria A and B. He added that according to the IRS a business qualifies as a 
farm if it’s cultivating, operating, or managing land for profit. He explained that for this to be a not for 
profit exemption it can’t be a farm. He added that there are exemptions but they can’t have more than 
two buildings and more than 7500 sq ft. His concern is that he shares 1435 ft of property line with the 
proposed kennel and that there is no natural sound barrier. He added that it would drastically change 
the pattern for development of the area and it’s not in harmony with the exsiting buildings. He added 
that animals will defecate on the floor and that it will crack and leak animal waste into the water. He 
added that he fully supports the mission but that he thinks the PC should reject the application.  

Ms. Holly Hutchens of Chapel Hollow Rd explained that she borders the Hendricksons’ lot. She explained 
that the nature of the landscape is a gentle slope up from Route 151. She explained that there is a 
constant breeze coming from that valley and that every scent and sound will come to their property. She 
explained that they can hear all the sound from the valley that they can hear the single dog barking on 
Blundell Hollow Rd and the rooster crowing next door on Rt 151. She explained that Nelson County has a 
noise ordinance that from 7 AM to 10 PM sound should not exceed 65 decibels and otherwise should 
not exceed 55. She added that there have been a number of different studies done on kennels and that 
one study showed that noise ranged from 84 to 108 decibels and a separate study found that kennels 
can have a continuous noise level of 10-120 decibels. She added that it is an admirable volunteer 
organization but that volunteers aren’t always consistent or reliable. She added that all of the properties 
will be on well water and that ground water contamination is an issue. She explained that this property 
was originally a very large piece of property that has been divided and turned into a residential area.  

Ms. Alison DePiro lives at 145 Chapel Hollow Rd. She presented the following information: 

The neighboring properties, in use as primary residences, equestrian, and other farming enterprises, by 
right, shall be affected adversely by the proposed development. The proximity of development to 
support these Special Use activities of breeding, training, and housing dogs for commercial purposes is 
too near the property borders to practically buffer and shield these activities from affecting the current 
by right activities. Dogs need outside exercise and activity by nature and there is no practical way for the 
proposed Special use activity to harmonize with the existing, by right, use and development. 



 
9 

 

I want to thank everyone here today for considering these issues. For what it is worth, I believe that the 
Service Dogs of Virginia serves a noble mission. It is unfortunate that this location is not a fit for these 
purposes. It is critical that as a community we come together to put the right land to the right use. 
 
Ms. Jennifer Hendrickson of 148 Blundell Hollow Rd noted that she would like to affirm her neighbors 
and agrees that Criteria A and B are not met by the application. She explained that the use would totally 
change the feel of the neighborhood. She added that they are large pieces of property designed for 
farming or residential use that have been divided in the last three years. She noted that everyone that 
has purchased a parcel there for their dream home or job. She explained that they want to start a 
vineyard and that their neighbors want to have horses. 

Chair Allen closed the public hearing at 7:38 PM.  

 

Ms. Proulx explained that there are two immediate neighbors that sent in letters expressing similar 
concerns. 

Mr. Hauschner explained that the noted decibel range in the study that was referenced is a systematic 
review and that the sound measured is a range of the maximum values found , an average weighted 
value of the intiation of a bark to the continuation of the sound throughout. He added that it uses 
specific dog breeds to get maximum value and that the measurement was taken from 5 feet from the 
dogs mouth. Ms. Bishop explained that Planning and Zoning does not regulate the noise ordinance. Ms. 
Proulx noted that her understanding is that it was measured from the property line. Mr. Rutherford 
explained that enforcing the noise ordinance requires a deputy standing on a property line with a meter 
and that the Sheriff’s Department does not have the mechanisms to send deputies out to measure 
noise. 

Ms. Proulx asked if dark sky was covered in the ordinance. Ms. Bishop noted that they could add a 
condition but that there is a criteria in the ordinance to cover directional and shielded lighting.  

Mr. Harman noted that this is a very admirable thing for the County and that it’s a tremendous amount 
of activity on 9 acres. He explained that if it was in a different location it would be fantastic. Ms. Proulx 
agreed with Mr. Harman due to the area being essentially residential. She explained that she is torn 
because the applicants are being very responsible. Mr. Rutherford asked if the Zoning Ordinance can 
regulate how many dogs or puppies a person can own. Ms. Bishop noted that the Ordinance doesn’t 
address it. Mr. Rutherford explained that someone could be a breeder and/or have hunting dogs. He 
explained that he doesn’t see a zoning restriction for the square footage of the facility as long as 
setbacks are met. He added that he knows many dog hunters that have more than 20 hounds. Ms. 
Proulx noted that if they have enough employees for there to be a fair amount of traffic. Ms. Proulx 
asked what made this a kennel. Ms. Bishop explained that the new definition is that the primary use 
must be a kennel for the Special Use Permit but that a kennel can be an accessory to a single family 
dwelling by right. Ms. Allen noted that she bred labs and that she could have 8-10 puppies in a litter. She 
explained that she did this as a home occupation. She made the point that they didn’t have employees 
coming in and out. She noted that having litters of puppies up to 8 weeks is not a problem. Ms. Proulx 
noted that she doesn’t think the dogs are the problem. Chair Allen noted that the size and location of 
the project are the issue. Mr. Rutherford noted that the Board has been wrong every time they tried to 



 
10 

 

predict where a business would want to go. He added that a business will want to go where it wants to 
go. He noted that Rt 151 has a proximity to I64 which gives it access to so many metropolis areas and an 
attractive area. Ms. Proulx explained that this particular use doesn’t require that kind of access.  

Mr. Rutherford asked what the total square footage of the buildings would be. Ms. Law explained that 
she doesn’t know the exact number herself. Ms. Proulx asked what breed of dogs they would have. Ms. 
Law explained they would be Labs or Lab/Golden mixes. She explained that they have a two year waiting 
list for dogs and place about a dozen a year. She added that most volunteers work off site. She explained 
that the structure is like a big horse barn. Chair Allen asked about the lodging accomodations for clients. 
Ms. Law explained that the class was a two week period and the same client can come back multiple 
times for trainings. 

Ms. Law clarified that the zoning is Agricultural and not Residential. She explained that neighbors will 
have horses and cows that will be defecating directly into the groundwater and not into a septic system 
like her facility will use. Mr. Rutherford explained that his family used to own a large pig farm that came 
to attention when the EPA was formed. He explained that the building itself could be by right in an 
agricultural setting for another use like farm animals. Ms. Law explained that they oriented the least 
used building closest to Mr. Hendrickson out of consideration for him.  

Mr. Hauschner asked if there is a specified outdoor area for the dogs. Ms. Law explained that there 
would be fenced in yards adjacent to each kennel as well as walking trails that the dogs can access on a 
walk with a trainer. She added that they plan to fence in the property so that they can take dogs on an 
off leash walk if they choose to. Mr. Rutherford asked if they planned to have puppies every cycle. Ms. 
Law explained that they are in a breeding cooperative and are probably going to do two litters per year. 
She explained that currently they have to use a volunteer’s home to do this. She added that they are 
very concerned about the health and enrichment of their dogs. Having a dedicated building to be used 
twice a year for litters would allow them to keep them healthy and enriched. Ms. Proulx asked where 
they were currently located. Ms. Law explained that they are currently in an office park in Charlottesville 
and rely on volunteers to take the dogs home at night. She explained that it gets complicated around 
popular vacation times. She explained that she is not worried about the dogs on the weekends and that 
90% of the time they will be away from the facility for the weekend. Mr. Rutherford noted that he is not 
against waiting another month to gather more information. Ms. Proulx noted that there is a commercial 
aspect to this with the classes and training. Mr. Rutherford explained that agricultural uses can offer 
classes by right.  

Ms. Proulx made a motion to recommend deferment of SUP #808 Kennel until the regular Planning 
Commission meeting on January 25th, 2023.  

Mr. Harman seconded the motion.  

Yes: 

Mike Harman 

Phil Proulx 

Jesse Rutherford 



 
11 

 

Mary Kathryn Allen 

Robin Hauschner 

 

Ms. Bishop asked if there was any specific information that the PC is looking for. Mr. Rutherford asked to 
know what the other uses, such as training, would entail. Ms. Proulx explained that she would like more 
information on the screening. She added that she doesn’t like another entrance on Rte 151 but that 
there’s nothing that they can do about it.  

 

 

Other Business:  

Division from Family Trust 

Ms. Bishop presented the following information:  



 
12 

 



 
13 

 

 

Ms. Proulx made a motion to move the proposed Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance updates for 
Family Divisions from Trust to public hearing.  



 
14 

 

Yes: 

Mike Harman 

Phil Proulx 

Jesse Rutherford 

Mary Kathryn Allen 

Robin Hauschner 

 

 

Cluster Housing Development 

Ms. Bishop explained that in October, staff met with some developers that are under contract with a 
property in Lovingston where they want to develop 40 workforce dwellings. She explained that there is 
not a way to allow that density with the current ordinance.  

Ms. Bishop showed following table of current regulations with the proposed development:  

 

She explained that the parcel is partially zoned R-2 (Residential). She added that the Cluster Ordinance 
has not been utilized to her knowledge and that the one time it was the lots had to be vacated because 
they could not be sold. Ms. Proulx asked how much of the property wouldn’t be developed. Ms. Bishop 
noted that the developers want to do 5-7000 square foot lots with about 30 acres of open space.  

Mr. Hauschner noted that the topography will make it difficult to make the housing affordable. Mr. 
Rutherford asked if this would be a SUP. Ms. Bishop explained that Cluster Developments are currently 



 
15 

 

by-right but that they can make them a SUP. Mr. Harman asked if they would be able to access Service 
Authority Infrastructure. Ms. Bishop noted that they did meet with the Service Authority and that they 
stated it was possible and would max out their capacity. Mr. Harman asked if there would be an open 
space requirement. Ms. Bishop explained that the current ordinance reserves 40% for open space. Ms. 
Bishop asked the PC for their recommendations on what to do with the Cluster Ordinance. Mr. 
Rutherford noted that he would like to see the Cluster Ordinance reworked without involving the 
proposed project. Mr. Rutherford explained that they haven’t had a large subdivision for affordable 
housing in years. He added that in other counties it has been required that a certain percent of housing 
be below AMI.  

 

2023 Schedule 

Ms. Hjulstrom reviewed the following schedule: 

 

 

Mr. Harman made a motion to approve the 2023 schedule. Mr. Hauschner seconded the motion.  

Yes: 



 
16 

 

Mike Harman 

Phil Proulx 

Jesse Rutherford 

Mary Kathryn Allen 

Robin Hauschner 

 

 

Comp Plan Meeting Schedule 

Ms. Bishop reviewed the following schedule: 



 
17 

 



 
18 

 



 
19 

 

 

 

Board of Supervisors Report: 

Mr. Rutherford noted that he will likely not be at the next meeting and someone else will be appointed 
as the BOS representative. He explained that he has enjoyed his experience on the Planning 
Commission. He noted that the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance updates are big ambitions. 
He added that they should review the Zoning Ordinance as soon as they’re done with the 
Comprehensive Plan. He explained that the average age of Nelson County increases 10 years every 10 
years. He added that work force housing is needed to attract the businesses where people will work. He 
added that the Affordable Housing Conference is March 24th. He added that Nelson County has a 
shortage of 1000s of homes.  

 

At 8:40 PM, Ms. Proulx made a motion to continue the meeting to January 18th at 7PM.   

Yes:  

Jesse Rutherford 

Mary Kathryn Allen 



 
20 

 

Mike Harman 

Phil Proulx 

Robin Hauschner 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Emily Hjulstrom 

Planner/Secretary, Planning & Zoning 

 

 

 


